RECEIVED

Jan 23 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of
Appeals

Appeal from Richland County Circuit Court
The Honorable Jean Toal, retired Chief Justice

2024-001626

Rhonda Meisner,

Appellant,

v.

Grant Meisner, Grant Meisner,
MD, LLC; Sheila Robinson; Erwin
Mangubat, MD; Moore, Taylor, &
Thomas, P.A.; Moore Taylor
Lawfirm; Moore Bradley Myers Law
Firm, LLC; Tricia L. Flowers;
Flowers Consulting, LLC; Richard
G. Whiting, Esquire; Law Offices of
Richard Whiting, P.A.; John Doe
(1-10) a fictional name assigned to
identify parties that are not yet
known or not yet determined.

Respondent
s.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT



Rhonda Meisner, Appellant

Statement of Issues on Appeal

1. Did the circuit court have subject matter jurisdiction over the claims and personal jurisdiction over the parties as alleged in the complaint?
2. Did the circuit court err in granting defendant's motion to dismiss?
3. Did the circuit court err by transforming the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment prior to discovery being completed because it evaluated documents and arguments outside of the complaint and amended complaint?
4. Did the circuit court err when it denied the Plaintiff's request for appointment of a mediator, to participate in discovery, and other relief when all defendants were not subject to the dismissal orders?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is based on the trial court's dismissal of claims against Defendants Grant Meisner¹; Grant Meisner, MD, LLC *; Sheila Robinson*; Moore Bradley Myers Law firm*² Richard Whiting; the law Offices of Richard Whiting; and Erwin Mangubat, MD with claims of Civil Conspiracy, Trespass, Trespass after Notice, Defamation, Abuse of Process, Negligence, Depicting the Plaintiff in a false light, and Public Disclosure of Private Facts, all claims that entitle plaintiff to a jury trial. (R___)Defendants counterclaimed for attorney's fees and punitive damages.

¹ Defendant's Grant Meisner, Grant Meisner, MD, LLC filed its motion to dismiss on April 6, 2022; Sheila Robinson, and the law firm's filed their Motion to Dismiss on April 12, 2022 and Dick Whiting filed his motion to dismiss on May 2, 2022 of the original complaint against them. On May 31, 2022 Dick Whiting filed an additional Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint and Erwin Mangubat filed his Motion to Dismiss on June 13, 2022 ; however, an Amended Complaint was filed on May 6, 2022 and served on the parties. The dismissal of the original complaint was mooted by the Amended Complaint, which was amended as of right within 30 days of the responsive pleading. There has been no Motion to Dismiss the Amended complaint by Defendant's Grant Meisner, Grant Meisner, MD,LLC; Sheila Robinson, Moore Bradley Myers law firm, PA, only an answer.

² The collective law firm defendants in its current legal iteration.

The Appellant filed a cause of action against the defendants for civil conspiracy alleging the defendants worked in tandem to injure her for their collective and individual pecuniary benefit in several particulars. Notably, the Court's proper purposes were abused to achieve some of their pecuniary goals by dispatching a process server, Tricia Flowers, ³("Flowers") to exceed her lawful purpose of serving papers to collect pictures, videos, and to be able to provide a personal testimony of her interaction with the Appellant (in the presence of her children), under the guise of serving papers. (R___)

The appellant, Rhonda Meisner ("Ms. Meisner") alleged respondent Grant Meisner ("Dr. Meisner") was "not thinking right." Upon information and belief, Dr. Meisner requested and received a letter from one of his operating room colleagues at Prisma Health indicating he was fine. The letter was addressed "to whom it may concern" and included a pre-surgical one page neurological report. This report was submitted to the Richland County Family Court to prove Dr. Meisner was well; however, it was discovered that Dr. Meisner was not a patient of Dr. Mangubat, Dr. Meisner's neurosurgeon operating room colleague.⁴ The submission to the family court never indicated Dr. Mangubat was an expert witness and no expert witness designation was submitted until months after using the report in the family court and the attorney for Dr. Meisner denying any experts were named in discovery responses.

³ At the time of the dismissals of the other defendants Ms. Flowers and her company Flowers Consulting, LLC were default defendants; however, they were named as part of the civil conspiracy claim naming the other defendants as part of the conspiracy.

⁴ Dr. Meisner and Dr. Mangubat worked in the operating room at Prisma Health along with Dr. Meisner's partners.

Subsequent to the appellant's allegations and the submission of the letter by Dr. Mangubat, Dr. Meisner, a former anesthesiologist and the appellant's former husband, misused the appellant's personal identifying information and filed a prescription for an HIV/Aids medication at CVS pharmacy, naming Ms. Meisner, as his patient. Dr. Meisner then paid for and picked-up the prescription for his own personal use. Upon information and belief, defendant Dr. Meisner misused not only the appellant's personal identification without her knowledge or consent to order the medication, but also used her health insurance information to get a reduction in the cost of the medication. Ms. Meisner, has never been Dr. Meisner's patient, and does not have HIV/Aids. Ms. Meisner was Dr. Meisner's estranged wife, living in a separate home and not speaking in person or on the phone with him at the time he wrote the improper prescription. CVS pharmacy sent a text message to Ms. Meisner asking if she needed additional Kaletra which is how Ms. Meisner discovered the prescription fraud and defamation.(R___) The prescription for HIV/Aids medication made all those who viewed the prescription think that Ms. Meisner had HIV or AIDS, and "treat" her accordingly, including medical doctors with whom she worked.(R___) The prescription event lended credence to the fact that Dr. Meisner was indeed ill.

The appellant filed a cause of action for defamation after Sheila Robinson ("Robinson") told third parties, including, but not limited to Christopher Leventis, ("Mr. Leventis")that Ms. Meisner "was found to have abused her children." Mr.

Leventis, who is a financial expert, and former Heathwood Hall student⁵, scribed Ms. Robinson's statement that "Ms. Meisner was found to have abused her children" into his notes for others in his practice to see. (R___) Rhonda Meisner has never abused any child, much less her own children.

The appellant filed a cause of action against Tricia Flowers and Flowers Consulting, LLC after Tricia Flowers entered the lands that Rhonda Meisner was in constructive and actual possession of and upon information and belief when Ms. Meisner was not home "peered into the windows of the house and car" for the purposes of taking pictures of the appellant's business papers, personal items, etc located in her car and home. (R___)

Ms. Flowers then returned to the property when Ms. Meisner had custody of her children, as instructed by the other defendants, for the purposes of starting an altercation with the appellant in front of her children, at the home occupied by Ms. Meisner, after she completed service of process for the papers. (R___) Defendant Tricia Flowers upon information and belief was consulting with the other defendants to time her arrival with that of the appellant and her children, despite the fact, the children were scheduled to be returned to her estranged spouse, within minutes of Ms. Flowers "service of process." (R___) The complaint alleged that after serving her papers, Tricia Flowers remained on the property after being asked to leave and picked a fight with the appellant by claiming Ms. Meisner lied about her

⁵ Rhonda Meisner's children previously attended Heathwood Hall Episcopal School and she continues to have business associates and friends that are affiliated with the School.

whereabouts and accused her of trying to avoid process and accused the appellant of “lying” multiple times in front of her children.(R__)

The appellant filed a claim for defamation against Sheila Robinson who told third parties, including, but not limited to Christopher Leventis, that Rhonda Meisner “was found to have abused her children” in an unprivileged setting.(R__) The comment that “Rhonda Meisner was found to have abused her children” was never true. Not true at the time of the utterance, not true at the time of the filing and is not true today. A claim for defamation was made against those two parties and their respective corporate entities for which the individual defendant worked because the defamatory act involved or occurred at their place of work.

Defendants claim the circuit court has no jurisdiction over the claims while the appellant avers the circuit court has jurisdiction over the claims because a jury trial was requested, there is no privilege that attaches to their actions (R__)and the circuit court is the proper court to adjudicate claims of defamation, abuse of process, civil conspiracy and negligence, when a jury trial is requested.(R__)

Defendants also claim the circuit court has no personal jurisdiction over the parties because they enjoy a qualified judicial immunity and/or they claim a privilege.

The appellant avers the defendants exceeded their qualified judicial immunity and any claimed privilege by their actions,(R__) the location of the actions,(R__) and, by their intent(R__). All acts and actions by the defendants

occurred outside of the judicial proceedings in private front yards, (R___)public pharmacies,(R___) hospital grounds,(T___) law offices,(R___) and on the internet.

Jurisdiction of this Court and standard of review

The Court reviews a dismissal pursuant to SCRPC Rule 12 (b)(6) in the same way the circuit reviews the case and by the same standard. The Court reviews a dismissal pursuant to SCRPC Rule 12 (b)(1)(2) as a question of law for the Court. This Court is free to decide questions of law “with no deference to the circuit court.” *Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct. App. 2009)

S.C. Code Ann. §14-8-260 grants the authority of this Honorable Court to hear appeals of judgment, order or decree from the family court and the circuit court. This is an appeal from a circuit court order that does not include any of the outlined exceptions. The circuit court entered the original dismissal of some parties on December 15, 2022. A Motion to alter and amend was filed by the law firm defendants on December 16, 2022. The Court amended the order to include dismissal of the law firm defendants on December 20, 2022.⁶The Appellant filed a motion to alter and amend pursuant to SCRPC Rule 52 and Rule 59 via US mail on December 27, 2022 (December 26, 2022 was a court holiday) which was timely filed and stamped by the Clerk on December 29, 2022), having received notice of entry of the order by review of the records. The Court denied relief of that motion on January 10, 2022. The Second Form 4 order dismissing the law firm defendants was

⁶ The Motion to Dismiss that is subject of this appeal is for the original summons and complaint and was filed before the Amended Summons and Complaint was filed.

received by the appellant on December 28, 2022 according to the motion which was timely filed according to the certificate of service on the Motion to Alter and Amend pursuant to Rule 52 and Rule 60 on January 7, 2022 and entered into the record on January 11, 2023.

Importantly, the Motion to Alter and Amend pursuant to Rule 52 and Rule 60 filed on January 7, 2023 via U.S. Mail and entered on January 11, 2023 was pending during the initial appeal of this case, which was dismissed as untimely. The plaintiff's second motion to alter and amend pursuant to Rule 52 and rule 60 was not acted on by the Court until a subsequent Rule 60 motion was filed requesting action on the Motion to Alter and Amend pursuant to Rule 52 and Rule 60, filed on January 7, 2022 via U.S. Mail and stamped on January 11, 2023. This appeal was timely filed within 30 days of the second rule 60 motion⁷ that was an effort to attempt to get a ruling on the outstanding Rule 60 motion that was never acted on.

Jurisdiction of the Circuit Court over all Claims and all Parties

The claims subject to this appeal are for defamation, negligence, abuse of process, civil conspiracy, trespass, and trespass after notice, and civil conspiracy between South Carolina citizens that either live or work in Richland County. The Richland County Circuit Court routinely hears these claims when the amounts

⁷ The Honorable Justice Jean Toal testified before the Judicial Merit Selection Hearing that she reviewed the records and there were no outstanding motions that required her action; however, a review of the Court filings indicate the motion was filed on January 11, 2023 which was one day after her final order on January 10, 2023.

exceed \$7500, as is the case here. These claims provide for a jury trial and are frequently heard by the circuit court for the county in which they occurred, the parties reside, and work.

Respondents suggest the claims the complaint is a “continuation of the divorce” is inaccurate because there are no causes of action for trespass, defamation, or negligence in divorce proceedings, as a normal course. It is not part of a divorce proceeding for a party to file a fraudulent prescription naming the other party as his patient for a loathsome disease, such as HIV/AIDS. The attorneys that are representing clients typically do not defame the other party by spreading falsehoods in the community and the family court does not provide for a jury demand.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court had subject matter jurisdiction over all claims and personal jurisdiction over the parties as alleged in the complaint

As an initial matter, there are no allegations in the complaint or the amended complaint for causes of action reserved for the exclusive jurisdiction of the family court such as divorce, separate support and maintenance, or any other claim reserved by the legislature for the family court.(R___)

Moreover, a jury trial is *only available* in the circuit court, not the family court. As such, even if the family court heard defamation cases, it could not hear a defamation claim that also requested a jury trial, if filed in the family court, the appellant would be required to waive the jury demand. As such the circuit court is

the *only* court that could hear the claims with a jury demand because all citizens are from South Carolina and the amount requested is in excess of \$7500.

II. The circuit court erred when it denied the motion to Alter and Amend pursuant to Rule 60 and Rule 52 filed in an attempt to get a ruling on the Motion to Alter and Amend stamped January 11, 2022 and the underlying orders that dismissed the Defendants in the Order of December 15, 2022 and December 20, 2022.

The Appellant avers all defendants were improperly dismissed as further explained below.

a. As to Defendants Grant Meisner, Grant Meisner, MD, LLC; Sheila Robinson; Moore Bradley Myers, PA

The appellant avers the dismissal of these defendants was improper for multiple reasons.

First, the filed Motion to Dismiss that was subject to the dismissal order of December 20, 2022 was a dismissal for the original complaint, not the Amended Complaint. As such, dismissal is inappropriate. An amended Complaint was filed on May 6, 2022 these defendants motions to dismiss were filed before the Amended Complaint was filed as of right on May 6, 2022 (R__) and the Order dismissing the defendants identified the date the Motion to Dismiss was filed for each of them.(R__) A party can amend his complaint once as a matter of right within 30 days after a pleading is filed. *Mims ex rel. Mims v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 399 S.C. 341, 347, 732 S.E.2d 395, 398 (2012) the plaintiff's right to amend the complaint as a right was not affected by the Defendants motion to dismiss. *Bowers v. Robinson*, 311 S.C. 412, 414, 429 S.E.2d 799, 800 (1993)(“The motion to dismiss did not alter the time allowed to the plaintiff to amend his complaint as a matter of right.”).

Second, upon information and belief, none of the above defendants moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint and even if they did, the Order failed to dismiss the Amended Complaint Claims against them. Nevertheless, the Defendants have removed themselves from the caption in the lower court.

Third, The Complaint *and the Amended Complaint* must be construed in light most favorable to the Appellant, who is the non-moving. *Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. 227, 233, 553 S.E.2d 496, 500 (Ct. App. 2001).(emphasis by the appellant) this standard means “if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief *on any theory* of the case, the complaint should not be dismissed. *Id.* at 233, 553 S.E.2d at 499. (Emphasis by the Appellant).

Fourth, A Motion to Dismiss should be based solely on the four corners of the document. *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 527, 511 S.E.2d 69, 73 (1999).

Fifth, the appellant avers each and every claim is adequately pled with all the requisite facts to support each and every element of the cause of action.

Sixth, South Carolina has not adopted the *Iqbal* and *Twombly* heightened pleading standards and specifically rejected this standard. *Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544 (2007) *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 129 S. Ct. 1937 (2009). South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) requires “A pleading which sets forth a cause of action...shall contain...a short and plain statement of the facts showing that the pleader is entitled to relief...” As such, as long as the facts correspond to meet the necessary elements of the tort (claim), the claim should defeat a

challenge under SCRCRCP Rule 12 (b)(6). "The grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action cannot be upheld if facts alleged in the complaint and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, if proven, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case. *Newton v. South Carolina Public Railways Comm'n* 319 S.C. 430, 462 S.E. 2d 266 (1995). In South Carolina only the ultimate facts are necessary to give notice of the claim against them.

Seventh, the fact these defendants are part of the civil conspiracy cause of action and Tricia Flowers and Flowers Consulting, LLC were default defendants suggests the claims against them should not have been dismissed.

Eighth, the Court did not allow the plaintiff to give the explanation of what was in front of the court to explain the default defendants and the limited motion to dismiss for the original complaint and not the Amended Complaint.

b. Defendants Grant Meisner and Grant Meisner, MD, LLC Defamation Claim should stand and not be dismissed.

First, in addition to not filing a Motion to Dismiss for the Amended Complaint Claims against Defendants Grant Meisner and Grant Meisner, MD, LLC these defendants do not claim any quasi judicial immunity or privilege in their defense by way of their motion to dismiss pursuant to SCRCRCP Rule 12 (b)(6).

Second, should this Court decide the Motion to Dismiss was applied to the Amended Claims despite the fact the motion was filed before the Amended Complaint was filed and any subsequent motion was not identified in the motion,

the Appellant avers these claims should be reversed and remanded because all the necessary elements were properly pled.

Third, South Carolina takes the minority view that spouses can sue their spouses.⁸

In order to prevail on a slander claim, a plaintiff must establish 1) a false and defamatory statement was made; 2) the unprivileged publication was made to a third party; 3) the publisher was at fault and 4) the statement is actionable. Here, filing a prescription for someone that does not have a disease is a false statement. The fact the medication treats a loathsome disease like AIDS is defamatory because it presumes that the recipient (Ms. Meisner) has AIDS, and she does not. The writing of a false prescription is not privileged and there is no one to blame other than the author of the prescription (Dr. Meisner) for writing the prescription, he is solely at fault for the creating and submitting the prescription. The false statement (prescription) is actionable *per se* because it assumes common law malice. Because the prescription treats a loathsome disease, the filing of the prescription is defamatory and actionable *per se* and damages are presumed.

**c. Defendants Sheila Robinson and the Moore Bradley Myers
Defendants defamation claims should stand.**

⁸ It is the public policy of our State to provide married persons with the same legal rights and remedies possessed by unmarried persons. See *Bryant v. Smith*, 187 S.C. 453, 198 S.E. 20 (1938) (recognizing purpose of predecessor to § 15-5-170 is to give married women all rights and remedies possessed by unmarried women); see also S.C.Code Ann. § 16-3-615 (Supp.2000) (amending law to provide spouse may be convicted of sexual battery against spouse)

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