RECEIVED

Feb 21 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
William McGee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001626, 2025-000164
Case No.: 2022-CP-40-01415

Rhonda Meisner.....Appellant

v.

Grant Meisner; Grant Meisner, MD, LLC; Sheila
Robinson; Erwin Mangubat, MD; Moore, Taylor, &
Thomas, P.A.; Moore Taylor Law Firm P.A.; Moore
Bradley Myers Law Firm, PA; Tricia L. Flowers;
Flowers Consulting, LLC; Flowers Consulting, LLC;
Richard G. Whiting, Esquire; Law Offices of Richard
G. Whiting, PA.; John Doe (1-10) a fictional name
assigned to identify parties that are not yet known
or not yet determined.....Respondents

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

Next, these Defendants believe the trial court properly found that Plaintiff/Appellant failed to properly allege the elements required to maintain a cause of action for civil conspiracy, defamation, invasion of privacy, false lights, abuse of process, and disclosure of private information.² As stated in her affidavit filed with the circuit court, to support her motion to set aside default, she was the process server for Sheila Robinson, Esq. of Moore Bradley Myers, P.A., which represented Plaintiff/Appellant’s husband at the time this suit commenced in the divorce action. (Flowers Affidavit ¶ 12). These Defendants maintain that Defendant Flowers would always record a cell phone video to track timing of her process serving. *Id.* This is something she regularly does for her business for every service she completes to show the proof that the proper and correct person has been served on date and time certain. *Id.* This is not a

² During the hearing, Plaintiff/Appellant argued that because Brown v. Pearson, 326 S.C. 409, 422, 483 S.E.2d 477, 484 (Ct. App. 1997) is a Court of Appeal case and because the holding was not issued by the South Carolina Supreme Court, this is not a proper authority to determine whether South Carolina recognizes false light claims.

violation of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure or any other statutes.^{3 4} In fact, as stated in Defendant Flowers' affidavit, the judges in the Richland County approve and endorse the defendant's recording herself and the area during the service as it helps for proper service of process. Id.

A. Abuse of Process

Plaintiff/Appellant claimed abuse of process as to these Defendants. "A plaintiff alleging abuse of process in South Carolina must assert two essential elements: 1) an 'ulterior purpose,' and 2) a 'willful act' in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of the proceeding." Food Lion, Inc. v. United Food & Commer. Workers Int'l Union, 351 S.C. 65, 71, 567 S.E.2d 251, 253, (Ct. App. 2002) citing Hainer v. Am. Med. Int'l, Inc., 328 S.C. 128, 136, 492 S.E.2d 103, 107 (1997); see LaMotte v. Punch Line of Columbia, Inc., 296 S.C. 66, 370 S.E.2d 711 (1988). "An ulterior purpose exists if the process is used to gain an objective not legitimate in the use of the process." First Union Mortgage Corp. v. Thomas, 317 S.C. 63, 74, 451 S.E.2d 907, 914 (Ct. App. 1994); see Davis v. Epting, 317 S.C. 315, 454 S.E.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1994) (finding no ulterior purpose where the record presented no evidence the process was used to gain anything other than a right to access disputed property); Rycroft v. Gaddy, 281 S.C. 119, 125, 314 S.E.2d 39, 44 (Ct. App. 1984) (holding no ulterior purpose was shown where defendants' use of subpoena to obtain bank records was for the "entirely legitimate purpose" of

³ In South Carolina, a process server can legally video record someone while serving legal documents as long as they have the consent of at least one party involved, as the state is considered a "one-party consent" state for recording audio and video conversations; meaning only one person needs to agree to be recorded for it to be legal. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-30-15, 17-30-30. In the present matter, the Respondent Flowers properly recorded the interaction between her and Plaintiff/Appellant.

⁴ Plaintiff failed to cite any authority or statute in her Summons and Complaint showing it is a violation of South Carolina law to record the defendant when the process server serves judicial pleadings.

gathering evidence"). "As to the second, or 'willful act' element, our supreme court has stated that "some definite act . . . not authorized by the process or aimed at an object not legitimate in the use of the process is required." *Id* citing Hainer, 328 S.C. at 136, 492 S.E.2d at 107.

In the present case, Plaintiff/Appellant has no sufficient claim or evidence to assert these Defendants had any ulterior purpose to gain anything other than her court-imposed duty to serve Plaintiff/Appellant with the pleadings. Moreover, Defendants' acts were entering and serving legal pleadings as a process server were authorized under the laws of South Carolina.

Therefore, the trial court properly found this claim is frivolous and fails to state sufficient facts.

B. Civil Conspiracy

The trial court properly concluded Plaintiff/Appellant did not assert a sufficient cause of action as to civil conspiracy. A civil conspiracy is a combination of two or more persons joining for the purpose of injuring and causing special damage to the plaintiff." Allegro, Inc. v. Scully, 418 S.C. 24, 32, 791 S.E.2d 140, 144, (2016) citing McMillan v. Oconee Mem'l Hosp., Inc., 367 S.C. 559, 564, 626 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2006). The primary inquiry in civil conspiracy is whether the principal purpose of the combination is to injure the plaintiff. Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 567, 633 S.E.2d 505, 511 (2006).

Here, Plaintiff/Appellant falsely claims in her Amended Summons and Complaint that these Defendants and respondents Sheila Robinson, Richard G. Whiting, and Law Office of Richard Whiting distributed photographs of the plaintiff and her chattel property that depicted the plaintiff "false light." She also made a frivolous argument that all these respondents were together in a conspiracy against her. These Defendants correctly stated at their Motion To

Dismiss hearing that Richard G. Whiting is the Guardian Ad Litem appointed by the Court. These Defendants believe one of his duties are “conducting an independent, balanced, and impartial investigation to determine the facts relevant to the situation of the child and the family.” S.C. Code Ann. §63-3-830 (2). These Defendants were in no way part of “civil conspiracy” with other respondents. Again, she was the process server who served the pleadings to Plaintiff/Appellant for their divorce matter. She was hired by the respondent Robinson and followed her instructions. She properly recorded Plaintiff/Appellant receiving the pleadings as it was her and Plaintiff/Appellant under “one party consent.” There is no evidence plead to demonstrate she ever communicated with Plaintiff/Appellant’s children. She did not injure Plaintiff/Appellant and/or attempted to ruin her business. These Defendants maintains that they have no relation with the respondent Richard Whiting nor his law office, they only receive instructions to Dr. Grant’s counsel Sheila Robinson. In fact, these Defendants believe Plaintiff/Appellant tries to assert a false conspiracy scheme including the respondents to falsely allege they were in conspiracy to harm her or her children which is not real.

C. Public Disclosure of Private Information and Invasion of Privacy

Under a cause of action for the "publicizing of one's private affairs with which the *public* has no legitimate concern" (emphasis added), an essential element of recovery is a showing of a public disclosure of private facts. Rycroft at 281 S.C. 119, 124, 314 S.E.2d 39, 43. The disclosure of private facts must be a public disclosure, and not a private one; there must be, in other words, publicity. Id. It is publicity, as opposed to publication, that gives rise to a cause of action for **invasion of privacy**. Id.

In Rycroft, the Court of Appeals held no cause of action for abuse of process lies against the respondent bank as it caused no process to issue against the appellant; rather, it merely

responded to the subpoenae caused to be issued by the other respondents. Id at 281 S.C. 119, 125, 314 S.E.2d 39, 43-44. The Court further held that the appellant has also failed to make out a valid abuse of process claim against the respondents due to lack of the element of an ulterior purpose. Id. The Court found that the bank records were subpoenaed for an entirely legitimate purpose to be used as evidence by one of the respondents in the prosecution of his client's action. Id.

Just like in Rycroft, Plaintiff/Appellant has failed to show the element of ulterior purpose. These Defendants only recorded Plaintiff/Appellant for the purpose of showing proof that she was served with the pleadings, a purpose which is a legitimate and required as the proof of service. Plaintiff has also failed to show these Defendants ever publicly disclosed or publicized the recordings gathered from Plaintiff/Appellant when she accepted the service.

Therefore, these Defendants believe Plaintiff/Appellant's Summons and Complaint does not contain sufficiently pleaded facts as to the causes of actions but rather, it was merely filed due to causing stress and intimidation as to these Defendants.

II. The Trial Court properly ruled in dismissing these Defendants and correctly found that there is no subject matter jurisdiction to dismissing Respondents Tricia Flowers and Flowers LLC.

"The question of subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law for the court." Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc., 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct. App. 2009). Thus, when reviewing the trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1), SCRCP, this court is free to decide questions of law with no deference to the trial court. Id. "Whether subject matter jurisdiction exists is a question of law, which this [c]ourt is free to decide with no particular deference to the circuit court." Id. Nat'l

Trust v. City of N. Charleston, 439 S.C. 222, 226, 886 S.E.2d 487, 490 (Ct. App. 2023) citing Vicary v. Town of Awendaw, 425 S.C. 350, 355, 822 S.E.2d 600, 602 (2018).

At the Motion to Dismiss hearing, Plaintiff made arguments with no legal basis, such as asserting that this Motion being argued by Michael C. Tanner's associate attorney, Emre Ersoy, instead of Michael C. Tanner himself would violate her constitutional rights of equal protection clause⁵. She also requested a continuance because "she had a meeting with client."

Her request was granted and the Motion was moved to the afternoon hearing on the same day. Despite Plaintiff/Appellant's assertion of otherwise as indicated in her initial brief, the trial judge The Hon. William McGee correctly found that this matter originated and stemmed from the Plaintiff/Appellant and her ex-husband Defendant/Respondent Dr. Meisner's divorce action. Plaintiff/Appellant's also conceded in her initial brief that she filed this matter "because a jury trial was requested . . . and the circuit court is the proper court to adjudicate claims of defamation, abuse of process, civil conspiracy and negligence when a jury trial is requested," and that "a jury trial is only available in the circuit court, not the family court" Id. (Appellant's Initial Brief at p. 5, 8). Moreover, Plaintiff stated for the court record at the motion hearing that she was unhappy with the justice system because they were not being fair to her and her children and that

⁵ It appears Plaintiff/Appellant misunderstood the concept of Equal Protection Clause under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Equal Protection Clause constitutes that the Constitution of the United States, in its present form, forbids, so far as civil and political rights are concerned, discrimination by the **General Government**, or by the States, against any citizen because of his race." Bolling v. Sharpe, 347 U.S. 497, 499, 74 S. Ct. 693, 694, 98 L. Ed. 884, 886-887 (1954)(Emphasis added). The Supreme Court of the United States later extended discrimination to age, gender, disability, national origin, non-marital children, and undocumented aliens over the course of time. There is no established class of attorneys for violation of their equal protection, even had there been one, Plaintiff/Appellant is not a licensed attorney. Furthermore, it also appears Plaintiff/Appellant misunderstood the general understanding of the law that constitutional rights must be violated by the government actors, not private parties. "Because the United States Constitution regulates only the Government, not private parties, a litigant claiming that his constitutional rights have been violated must first establish that the challenged conduct constitutes state action." Meadow v. United Servs., 963, F.3d 240, 243 (2d. Cir. 2020) citing Fabrikant v. French, 691 F.3d. 193, 205 (2d. Cir. 2012)(internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, neither Mr. Michael Tanner, nor Mr. Ersoy are capable of violating Appellant/Plaintiff's constitutional rights as they are private parties.

the defendants/respondents should be retaliated for “what they have done to her and her children.”

Therefore, These Defendants maintain their position that the trial court properly found Plaintiff/Appellant had a lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

III. The Trial Court properly ruled Respondents Tricia Flowers and Flowers LLC were not liable to Plaintiff/Appellant based upon the doctrine of quasi-judicial immunity.

Judicial immunity affords absolute immunity from suit. O’Laughlin v. Windham, 330 S.C. 379, 382-383, 498 S.E.2d 689, 691, (1998) quoting Stump v. Sparkman, 435 U.S. 349, 55 L. Ed. 2d 331, 98 S. Ct. 1099 (1978). In other words, judicial immunity, if applicable, acts as a bar to suit, not just as an ultimate bar to relief. Therefore, a finding of judicial immunity renders a complaint alleging judicial misconduct meritless. “Communications in judicial proceedings are absolutely privileged and are immune from an action for an **invasion of privacy**. Rycroft at 281 S.C. 119, 124, 314 S.E.2d 39, 43 (1984) citing Wolfe v. Arroyo, 543 S.W. (2d) 11 (Tex. Civ. App. 1976). (emphasis added). “Our law affords absolute immunity to those persons who aid the truth-seeking mission of the judicial system. This protection extends to judges, prosecutors and witnesses.” Day v. Johns Hopkins Health Sys. Corp., 907 F.3d 766, 771 (4th Cir. 2018). “Any erosion of the common law immunity for witnesses would undermine the truth-seeking function of the initial proceeding, invite new claims by disgruntled litigants, and deter participation by those in a position to offer valuable testimony. The privilege has been around so long and recognized so widely for a reason: it helps the judicial system work.” Day at 773.

In Gaar v. North Myrtle Beach Realty Co., Inc., 287 S.C. 525, 528-29, 339 S.E.2d 887, 889 (Ct. App. 1986), the Court of Appeals held that "an attorney is immune from liability to third persons arising from the performance of his *professional activities as an attorney* on behalf

of and with the knowledge of his client. Accordingly, an attorney *who acts in good faith* with the authority of his client is not liable to a third party in an action for malicious prosecution."

(Emphasis supplied). The Gaar Court further noted,

"The attorney normally conducts the litigation solely in his professional capacity. He has *no personal interest* in the suit. *In his professional capacity* the attorney is not liable...for injury allegedly arising out of the performance of his professional activities....Even if the attorney who initiates civil proceedings for his client has no probable cause to do so, he is still not liable if he acts primarily for the purpose of aiding his client in obtaining a proper adjudication of the client's claim." *Id.* (Emphasis supplied).

Again, while the Respondent Flowers is not a judge, an attorney, or a witness in the current matter, she is a process server whose mission is to hand deliver official court and legal documents such as subpoenas, summons, complaints, and more to individuals involved in court cases to support court and legal system. These Defendants believe that that as a process server, the Respondent Flowers and her company are allowed to have protection under the quasi-judicial immunity. In Re John A. Betts, Debtor, 165 B.R. 233 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 1994) (citation omitted) is a proper authority which supports the defendant Flowers' assertion.

In Re Betts, Debtor filed a petition against numerous defendants, including the presiding judge and the court-appointed private process server, Kevin Mason, for rule to show cause after the presiding judge had found Debtor's motion in opposition to the Personal Representative of the estate's relief from the automatic stay was moot and entered a discharge order. There, the court found that the actions of the presiding judge in entering the order were acts performed in his judicial capacity. The court, however, further found that similarly, Mason's actions as a court appointed special private process server under order of the state court, allows him to have a limited protection, and that immunity should also be accorded to non-judicial officials for their quasi-judicial conduct when acting pursuant to a court directive, citing Henry v.

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